IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ZURICH AMERICAN INS. CO., et al.

Plaintiffs - Appellants

v.

IRONSHORE SPECIALTY INS. CO.

Defendant - Respondent

Case No.: 81428
Electronically Filed
Nov 12 2020 10:30 a.m.

Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

William Reeves
State Bar No.: 8235
MORALES FIERRO & REEVES
600 S. Tonopah Drive, Suite 300
Las Vegas, NV 89106
Tel: 702/699-7822
Fax: 702/699-9455

Email: wreeves@mfrlegal.com

Attorneys for Appellants

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this matter by virtue of an Order it issued accepting certified questions from the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal as to a matter pending before it. AA5084-5104. The matter pending before the Ninth Circuit, in turn, arises from a final judgment entered in favor of Respondent Ironshore Specialty Ins. Co. ("Ironshore" or "Respondent") and against Appellants Zurich American Insurance Company and American Guarantee & Liability Ins. Company (collectively "Zurich" or "Appellants") following the rulings on the parties' motions for summary judgment. AA5043-5050.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

As this matter involves certified questions of law from a Federal Court, the Supreme Court presumptively retains jurisdiction. NRAP 17(a)(6).

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

This matter raises the following core issue - whether an insurer may decline to defend based on a policy exclusion that eliminates coverage for "continuous" damages, but not for damages which occur suddenly, when the allegations asserted as to the homes are silent regarding the timing, scope and extent of the alleged damages. While the Federal Court has posed this

question as one of burden, applicable to an exception to an exclusion, Zurich contends that the "sudden and accidental" phrase in the exclusion is better understood as defining which damages are excluded by defining what constitutes a "continuous" damage and what does not.

One Federal Court in an underlying suit between these same parties issued a series of rulings holding that an insurer owes a duty to defend when allegations of damages are silent regarding the timing, scope and extent of the damages given that a potential exists that some of the damages could have occurred suddenly. See *Assurance Co. of America v. Ironshore Spec. Ins. Co.*, 2016 WL 1169449 (D. Nev. 2016); *Assurance Co. of America v. Ironshore Spec. Ins. Co.*, 2015 WL 4579983 (D. Nev. 2015); *Assurance Co. of America v. Ironshore Spec. Ins. Co.*, 2014 WL 4829709 (D. Nev. 2014). In these rulings, the court held that Respondent's inability to prove that none of the damages occurred suddenly barred it from meeting its burden of demonstrating that no potential for coverage existed to justify its refusal to defend. Id.

The trial court ruling at issue in connection with the instant appeal held exactly the opposite - namely that that no duty to defend exists when

¹ In connection with an appeal of these rulings, the Ninth Circuit issued a stay pending this Court's responses to the certified questions. See *Zurich Amer. Ins. Co. v. Ironshore Spec. Ins. Co.*, 801 Fed.Appx. 576 (9th. Cir. 2020).

the underlying claims at issue are silent as to the timing, scope and extent of the damages as in the absence of any specific allegations that any damage occurred suddenly, no potential for coverage existed. AA5043-5049.

Under this rationale, the trial court necessarily held that allegations of damages which are silent as to the scope, extent and timing of the damages do not create the potential that some of the damages could have occurred suddenly and accidentally. Id.

As these rulings regarding Respondent's duty to defend cannot be reconciled, the Ninth Circuit certified questions to this Court as to one of the matters in order to confirm the correct standard to apply while staying the other matter. AA 5084-5102; *Zurich Amer. Ins. Co., supra*, 801 Fed.Appx. 576. Per the Ninth Circuit Order:

[W]e submit these questions only because of their significance to actions brought to enforce an insurer's duty to defend under Nevada insurance law.

AA5086.

The Ninth Circuit framed the questions as follows:

Whether, under Nevada law, the burden of proving the applicability of an exception to an exclusion of coverage in an insurance policy falls on the insurer or the insured? Whichever party bears such a burden, may it rely on evidence extrinsic to the complaint to carry its burden, and if so, is it limited to extrinsic evidence available at the time the insured tendered the defense of the lawsuit to the insurer?

AA5086.

In framing the questions presented to this Court, the Ninth Circuit explained that its "phrasing of the questions should not restrict the Court's consideration of the issues involved" as this Court "may rephrase the questions as it sees fit in order to address the contentions of the parties." AA 5086. This Court, therefore, is empowered to provide the Ninth Circuit with guidance as to core issue in dispute - namely whether Respondent met its burden of proof in refusing to defend.

The particular coverage dispute before this Court is the application of an exclusionary provision in the Ironshore policies, entitled, "Continuous Injury Endorsement." The exclusion provides:

This insurance does not apply to any "bodily injury" or "property damage":

1. which first existed, or is alleged to have first existed, prior to the inception of this policy. "Property damage" from "your work", or the work of any additional insured, performed prior to policy inception will be deemed to have first existed prior to the policy inception, unless such "property damage" is sudden and accidental and takes place within the policy period . . .

AA5089.

Under the exclusion, coverage is barred for damages involving work

completed prior to the inception of the policy "unless such [damage] is sudden and accidental and takes place within the policy period." The analysis as to whether a defense is owed, therefore, is entirely dependent on what standard applies to an insurer that seeks to apply this exclusion in evaluating its duty to defend.

As discussed herein, pleadings which are silent as to the scope, extent and timing of damages do <u>not</u> permit an insurer to rule out the potential that alleged damages occurred suddenly. By virtue of this potential, a duty to defend is owed because when an insurer such as Ironshore cannot establish and prove that the policy exclusions eliminate coverage for all of the alleged damages. For this reason, Respondent's decision to deny a defense to its insureds in multiple cases, based solely on the exclusion, was and is contrary to law.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Court has consistently held that an insurer owes a duty to defend to its insured whenever the insurer ascertains facts which give rise to the potential of coverage under an insurance policy. *Century Surety Company v. Andrew*, 134 Nev. 819 (2018); see also *Benchmark Ins. Co. v. Sparks*, 127 Nev. 407 (2011). Under this standard, any doubt about whether the duty has arisen is resolved in favor of the insurer owing a duty to defend. *United*

National Ins. Co. v. Frontier Ins. Co., Inc., 120 Nev. 678 (2004). As this Court has explained, mandating that an insurer provide a defense when doubts as to existence of coverage prevents an insurer from evading its obligation to provide a defense for an insured without at least investigating the facts behind a complaint. Powell v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 252 P.3d 668, 672 (2011); Fed. Ins. Co. v. Am. Hardware Mut. Ins. Co., 124 Nev. 319, 322 (2008).

Appellants and Respondent agree that the allegations of damages asserted in the underlying cases at issue in this matter are generally silent as to the timing, scope and extent of damages. While the trial court in connection with the instant appeal held that this silence permitted the insurer to deny coverage since no specific allegations of sudden damages were asserted, the trial court in the other companion matter between these same parties held otherwise - namely that the silence as to the scope, extent and timing of the alleged damages created doubt regarding the potential for sudden damages such that a defense was owed. Compare AA 5043-5049 with *Assurance Co. of America*, *supra.*, 2015 WL 4579983. This latter ruling is in accord with Nevada law.

Courts in other jurisdictions have reached conclusions similar to the latter court in concluding that when pleadings are silent as to the scope,

extent and timing of the damages, a potential exists that some damages occurred suddenly. See *KB Home Jacksonville, LLC v. Liberty Mutual Fire Ins. Co.*, 2019 WL 4228602; see also *Interstate Fire & Casualty Ins. Co. v. First Specialty Ins. Co.*, 2020 WL 5107612 (E.D. Cal. 2020); *Newmont USA Ltd. v. American Home Assurance Co.*, 676 F.Supp.2d 1146 (E.D. Wash 2009); *Mahl Bros. Oil Co. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 307 F.Supp.2d 474 (W.D. Wash. 2004). Existing Nevada law dictates the same result.

While Ironshore seizes on the absence of any specific allegations of sudden damages asserted in the underlying lawsuits in concluding that no defense is owed, it does so by conceding that it has a pattern and practice of never investigating the existence of sudden damages such that it candidly can never rule out that sudden damages could have occurred. AA 1791:22-1795:5, 1796:2-21. Stated simply, when pleadings are silent as to the scope, timing and extent of damages, common sense necessarily dictates that a potential necessarily exists that the damages could have occurred suddenly. Id.

Given this, in responding to the first certified question, it is respectfully submitted that where a potential for coverage is initially held to exist, an insurer seeking to disclaim coverage bears the burden of proving

that coverage is conclusively excluded. Under this standard, if an insurer cannot meet its burden of proving that coverage is conclusively excluded, a defense is owed.

Ironshore should not be permitted to flip burdens on their heads by asserting that phrases within the exclusion can be described as "exceptions" such that an insured must prove when and how a damage occurred before a duty to defend arises. The policy excludes damages which are continuous in nature and states that the converse -- damages which are sudden -- are not excluded. Under well-established rules of policy interpretation, therefore, Ironshore's denial of a duty to defend was proper in these cases only if Ironshore can establish through uncontroverted facts that no potential for sudden damage was raised in the complaints. See *Assurance Co. of America v. Ironshore Spec. Ins. Co.*, 2014 WL 4829709 (D. Nev. 2014).

As to the second certified question, this Court has already held that an insurer may <u>not</u> rely on facts outside the complaint in assessing its initial duty to defend. "[A]s a general rule, facts outside of the complaint cannot justify an insurer's refusal to defend its insured. Restatement of Liability Insurance § 13 cmt. c (cite omitted).

Nonetheless, an insurer can always agree to defend the insured with the limiting condition that it does not waive any right to later deny coverage based on the terms of the insurance policy under a reservation of rights.

Andrew, supra, 134 Nev. at 822, fn 4. Under the rule stated in Andrew, an insurer must initially provide a defense if a potential for coverage exists. It can terminate that duty through a declaratory relief action:

Accordingly, facts outside the complaint may be used in an action brought by the insurer seeking to terminate its duty to defend its insured in an action whereby the insurer is defending under a reservation of rights.

Restatement of Liability Insurance § 13 cmt. c (Am. Law Inst., Proposed Final Draft No. 2, 2018) ("Only in a declaratory-judgment action filed while the insurer is defending, or in a coverage action that takes place after the insurer fulfilled the duty to defend, may the insurer use facts outside the complaint as the basis for avoiding coverage.").

Ibid. [emphasis added.]

As to the claims at issue in this matter, the record upon which the trial court ruled in favor of Respondent included no evidence to prove that none of the damages occurred suddenly since, as Respondent admits, it has a pattern and practice of never conducting an investigation regarding this issue. See AA 1791:22-1795:5, 1796:2-21. In the absence of any investigation, therefore, Respondent possessed no evidence to demonstrate and/or prove that none of the damages could have occurred suddenly when it refused to defend. In the absence of this evidence, Respondent's decision to not defend is improper.

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Ironshore Policies

The dispute between Appellants and Respondent pertains to sums Appellants incurred on behalf of the following common insureds:

- Cedco, Inc. ("Cedco")
- Centex Homes ("Centex")²
- Debard Plumbing, Inc. ("Debard")
- JP Construction Co., LLC ("JP Construction")
- Laird Whipple Construction, Inc. ("Laird Whipple")
- PR Construction Corp. ("PR Construction")
- Stewart & Sundell, Inc. ("Stewart & Sundell")
- Universal Framing, LLC ("Universal Framing")

Respondent issued each of the insureds (collectively "Insureds") insurance policies generally in effect between 2009 and 2011. AA0215-1004. The terms and provisions of these policies are identical in all relevant respects, as each policy incorporates a standard liability form, CG0001 (entitled "Commercial General Liability Coverage Form") which provides as follows:

² The claims as to Centex are based on its status as an additional insured under a policy Ironshore issued to Lukestar Corp. dba Champion Masonry ("Champion Masonry").

a. We will pay those sums that the Insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of "bodily injury" or "property damage" to which this insurance applies. We will have the right and duty to defend the Insured against any "suit" seeking those damages. . . .

. . .

- b. This insurance applies to "bodily injury" and "property damage" only if
- (1) The "bodily injury" or" property damage" is caused by an "occurrence that takes place in the "coverage territory";
- (2) The "bodily injury" or "property damage" occurs during the policy period . . .

. . .

"Occurrence" means an accident. including continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful conditions.

. . .

"Property damage" means:

a. Physical injury to tangible property, including all resulting loss of use of that property . . .

AA0219, 0231; 0282, 0294; 0345, 0357; 0408, 0420; 0469, 0481; 0525, 0537; 0578, 0590; 0641, 0653; 0707, 0719; 0766, 0778; 0823, 0835; 0884, 0896; 0947, 0959.

The policies likewise each include an endorsement entitled, "Continuous Injury Endorsement," form IB.EX.0148 (7/08 Ed.) which provides as follows:

This endorsement modifies Insurance provided under the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART

This insurance does not apply to any "bodily Injury" or "property damage":

- 1. which first existed, or is alleged to have first existed, prior to the inception of this policy. "Property damage" from "your work", or the work of any additional insured, performed prior to policy inception will be deemed to have first existed prior to the policy inception, unless such "property damage" is sudden and accidental and takes place within the policy period or
- 2. which was, or is alleged to have been, in the process of taking place prior to the Inception date of this policy, even if the such "bodily injury" or "property damage" continued during this policy period; or
- 3. which is, or is alleged to be, of the same general nature or type as a condition, circumstance or construction defect which resulted in "bodily Injury" or "property damage" prior to the Inception date of this policy,

AA0245, 0312, 0373, 0433, 0495, 0551, 0604, 0669, 0733, 0796, 0849, 0912, 0973.

This exclusion upon which Ironshore relied in denying coverage in each of the underlying suits at issue serves as the basis for the certified questions directed to this Court.

B. <u>Underlying Matters</u>

One or more of the Insureds were named as Defendants in the following fourteen separate actions, each filed in Nevada State Court:

- Anthem Country Club COA v. Terravita, Clark County Case
 No. A634626 ("Anthem") AA1598-1621.
- Bennett v. American West Homes, Clark County Case No.: A558243 ("Bennett") AA1500-1534.
- Boyer v. PN II, Clark County Case No.: A603841 ("Boyer")
 AA1558-1579.
- Casallas v. Barker-Coleman Construction, Washoe County

 Case No.: CV10-03610 ("Casallas") AA1457-1479.
- Clark v. D.W. Arnold, Washoe County Case No.: CV13-01125 ("Clark") AA1718-1753.
- Drost v. Silver Wing Development, Washoe County Case No.: CV12-02656 ("Drost") AA1370-1382.
- Garcia v. Centex Homes, Clark County Case No.: A616729 ("Garcia") AA1274-1304.
- Lino v. Lakemont Copper Hills, Washoe County Case No.: CV11-03683 ("Lino") AA2589-2599.
 - *Marcel v. The Developers of Nevada*, Clark County Case No.:

A654209 ("Marcel") AA1342-1355.

- Mohan Chapter 40 Proceeding ("Mohan")³ AA1237-1238.
- Seven Hills Masters COA v. Granite Silver, Clark County Case
 No.: A639041 ("Seven Hills") AA1243-1258.
- Stallion Mountain COA v. W. Lyon Homes, Clark County Case
 No.: A599651 ("Stallion Mtn.") AA1642-1651.
- Sun City Anthem COA v. Del Webb Comm., Clark County Case
 No.: A608708 ("Sun City") AA1673-1683; and
- Wikey v. K & M Homes of Nevada, Washoe County Case No.: CV11-01836 ("Wikey") AA1428-1439.

In each of the suits, homeowners joined together as plaintiffs, naming the developer and/or general contractor as defendants. See AA1237-1238, 1243-1258, 1274-1304, 1342-1355, 370-1382, 1428-1439, 1457-1479, 1500-1534, 1558-1579, 1598-1621, 1642-1651, 1673-1683, 1718-1753, and 2589-2599. In these suits, the homeowner-plaintiffs alleged damages because of physical injury to tangible property arising from defective conditions for which the respective insureds were alleged to be liable. Id. Of significance, the allegations made in each matter are uniformly silent as to the scope,

³ A homeowner seeking to assert claims based on construction defects in Nevada must generally first serve a Notice disclosing the defects ("Chapter 40 Notice"). NRS 40.640. Per NRS 40.649, insurance companies are required to treat Chapter 40 Notices as equivalent to civil actions.

extent and timing of the damages arising from the defects. Id.

For example, the following allegations were made in *Anthem*:

33. Within the past two years, Association has discovered that the project has been and is experiencing defective conditions of the real property and structures thereon, including without limitation: cracked and deteriorated concrete curb and gutter; chips in the concrete curb and gutter; water ponding in concrete gutters; vertical offset concrete curb; cracked concrete drainage swales or cross gutters; cracked, chipped and deteriorated concrete sidewalks; vertical offset concrete sidewalk; ponding on concrete sidewalk; cracked and eroded asphalt pavement; deteriorated asphalt seal; asphalt pavement below edge of swale; brick pavers set below edge of swale; irregular asphalt pavement surface (gouges); sinkhole in asphalt pavement; asphalt not sealed for certain communities; ponding on asphalt pavement; ponding on pavers; deteriorated concrete utility pad; debris on finish surface; blue reflective fire hydrant blue pavement markers omitted; sinkhole has formed in the street; broken utility collar; cracked concrete manhole cover; chipped concrete utility pad or manhole cover; cracked concrete vault cover or pad; settled concrete utility vault; sinking storm drain inlets; efflorescence forming on retaining walls; decorative caps on retaining walls are deteriorating; color coat on retaining walls is deteriorating and color is changing; cracked masonry fence; short vertical reinforcing in masonry fence; missing vertical and horizontal reinforcing in masonry fence; metal fence or post installed in direct contact with soil; metal fencing is not properly installed; metal fencing is rusting; cracked concrete landscape curb at base of fence; expansion joint filled with stucco or grout; exposed wall footing; deteriorated wall caps; incorrect drain inlets at cul-de-sacs; ramp is omitted; mail boxes are too low; pool lights are improperly installed; a second "residents only" entry and exit was not provided; and cracks in the bottom of the community pool. Said components are not of merchantable quality, nor were they designed, erected, constructed or installed in a workmanlike manner, but instead are defective and, as now known, the subject components demonstrate improper, nonexistent, and/or inadequate design, construction, manufacture, installation, and/or build. Association is informed

and believes and thereon alleges that the structures may be additionally defective in ways and to an extent not precisely known, but which will be established at the time of trial, according to proof.

. . .

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