#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, et al.,

No. 81428

Electronically Filed Jan 12 2021 11:07 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

VS.

IRONSHORE SPECIALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant and Respondent.

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

MORISON & PROUGH, LLP William C. Morison, No. 9872

2540 Camino Diablo, Suite 100 Walnut Creek, CA 94597-3973 Telephone: (925) 937-9990 Facsimile: (925) 937-3272

Attorneys for Defendant and Respondent IRONSHORE SPECIALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

## NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

Ironshore Specialty Insurance Company is wholly owned by Ironshore

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

  ... Typically, in the context of contractual disputes, Oregon courts have required the party seeking the benefit of a particular provision to bear the burden of proving its application. . . . In this case, Tektronix seeks the benefit of the exception to the pollution exclusion. For that reason, it is appropriate that Tektronix bear the burden of proving that the exception is applicable";
- CONRAIL v. Ace Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co., 182 A.3d 1011, 1027
   (Pa.Super. 2019) (Pennsylvania law; granting motion for summary judgment that the insurer had no duty to defend);

- St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Warwick Dyeing Corp., 26 F.3d

  1195, 1200 (1st Cir. 1994) (predicting Rhode Island law; granting
  motion for summary judgment that the insurer had no duty to defend

  "[b]ecause the insured bears the burden of establishing coverage under
  an insurance policy, it makes sense that the insured must also prove
  that the exception affords coverage after an exclusion is triggered");
- Helena Chem. Co. v. Allianz Underwriters Ins. Co., 594 S.E.2d 455,
   460 fn. 5 (S.C. 2004) (South Carolina law);
- Demaray v. De Smet Farm Mut. Ins. Co., 801 N.W.2d 284, 287 (S.D. 2011) (South Dakota law);
- Telepak v. United Servs. Auto. Ass'n, 887 S.W.2d 506, 507 (Tex.App. 1994) (Texas law; "[a]n exception to an exclusion is not 'language of exclusion' or an 'exception to coverage.' An exception to an exclusion creates coverage rather than excluding it or limiting it");
- Quaker State Minit-Lube v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co., 868 F.Supp.
   1278, 1312 (D.Utah 1994) (predicting Utah law; granting motion for summary judgment that the insurer had no duty to defend and surveying cases that apply the majority rule); and
- Sinclair Oil Corp. v. Republic Ins. Co., 929 P.2d 535, 543 (Wyo. 1996) (Wyoming law).

Appellants do not even attempt to address the majority rule, its reasoning, and the overwhelming authority that supports it. Instead, appellants rely on a smattering of trial court decisions purporting to apply the minority rule, leading off with KB Home Jacksonville LLC v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 2019

U.S.Dist.LEXIS 151235, at \*19 (M.D.Fla. 2019). (Appellants' Opening Brief at 36, 39.) KB Home Jacksonville LLC is a case where a Florida trial court purported to apply Nevada law and chose to follow Zurich Nevada II instead of Zurich Nevada I only demonstrates and reinforces that there is a split of authority between United States District Courts in Nevada on this issue. In any event, KB Home Jacksonville LLC erroneously applied the minority rule and Nevada law.

Significantly, Nevada's law on the duty to defend is not dissimilar to that of California and the majority of states. *United Natl Ins. Co., supra*, 120 Nev. at 687; *Zurich Am. Ins. Co., supra*, 964 F.3d at 811 (also noting that "Nevada courts often look to California for guidance"). In evaluating an insurer's duty to defend, California unquestionably follows the majority rule. *McMillin Cos., LLC, supra,* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> There is also a split of authority in United States District Courts in Florida. *IDC Construction, LLC v. Admiral Ins. Co.*, 339 F.Supp.2d 1342 (S.D.Fla. 2004), which is one of the cases cited by appellants, considered a Pre-Existing Damage Exclusion with language materially different from the Ironshore CP Exclusion. That case is inconsistent with the majority rule, which was followed in *Hudson Ins. Co. v. Double D Management Co.*, 768 F.Supp. 1542, 1545 (M.D.Fla. 1991).

233 Cal.App.4th at 533, fn. 23 (the burden of proof on the duty to defend is borne by the insured; the insured bears the burden of proving an exception to an exclusion is applicable); *All Green Elec., Inc., supra*, 22 Cal.App.5th at 416-17 (the court found no duty to defend because the insured failed to demonstrate that the sudden and accidental exception of the impaired property exclusion was applicable).

Appellants' other authorities-Newmont USA Ltd. v. Am. Home Assur. Co., 676 F.Supp.2d 1146 (E.D. Wash. 2009) and Axis Surplus Ins. Co. v. James River Ins. Co., 2009 U.S.Dist.Lexis 22614 (W.D.Wash, 2009)—also erroneously applied the minority rule. Axis Surplus Ins. Co., purported to discern Washington law and applied the minority rule. As of 2016, however, Washington law has not adopted either the minority or majority rule. Port of Longview v. Arrowood Indem. Co., 2016 Wash.App.LEXIS 3100, at \*57 (Wash.App. 2016) ("No Washington case has addressed who has the burden of proof on the "sudden and accidental" exception to the qualified pollution exclusion, but courts in other jurisdictions have placed the burden of proof on the insured"). Newmont USA Ltd., supra, purported to apply Washington and New York law. Washington law is silent, as noted above, and Newmont misapplied New York law by applying the minority rule. New York has adopted the majority rule. Northville Industries, supra, 679 N.E.2d at 1048-1049.

To establish a duty to defend, Nevada law squarely places the burden of proof on the insured to demonstrate that the claim is "within the terms of the policy." *Nat'l Auto. & Cas. Ins. Co., supra,* 75 Nev. at 303. It logically follows that whether an exception to an exclusion applies, which returns coverage to the insured, the burden similarly rests on the insured. Such an allocation aligns the burden with the benefit and is consistent with the general principle that while the burden is on the insurer to prove a claim falls within an exclusion, the burden is on the insured to prove that a claim is within the scope of coverage.

The Ninth Circuit generously concluded that there are "reasonable arguments on both sides" of the question whether it is the insured's burden to show the applicability of an exception to an exclusion. *Zurich Am. Ins. Co., supra*, 964 F.3d at 810. In fact, applying existing Nevada law, there are not "reasonable arguments" on both sides. Determination of the duty to defend is based on the allegations in the complaint. *United Natl Ins. Co., supra*, 120 Nev. at 686. The court in *United National* held that there was no duty to defend because the allegations of the complaint did not allege property damage during the policy period. The *United National* reasoning applies equally here. As the Ninth Circuit in *Nevada Zurich I* observed, "no complaint made specific allegations describing when or how the property damage occurred." *Zurich Am. Ins. Co., supra*, 964 F.3d at 808. More specifically, there is no dispute that none of the complaints alleged

any "sudden and accidental" property damage, let alone during the Ironshore policy period. To find coverage in such a situation would run squarely afoul of the rule and holding of *United National*. Appellant's contrary argument is not only unreasonable, it is based neither on allegations nor evidence but rather pure speculation.

D. Rules Of Evidence Require Appellants To Prove The Applicability Of Any Coverage Grants, Including An Exception To An Exclusion

In *Rivera v. Philip Morris*, 125 Nev. 185, 190-91 (2009), the Court explained that burden of proof is an "umbrella phrase" that encompasses the burden of persuasion and the burden of production.

At the outset, we note that cases are governed, in part, by evidentiary burdens and determining which party carries these burdens. The determination of which party caries a burden is critical because it can impact the outcome of a case. The term "burden of proof" is an umbrella phrase that describes two related, but separate, burdens. . . . First, there is the burden of production. The party that carries the burden of production must establish a prima facie case. . . . The burden of production may be switched from one party to another by a presumption. . . . Second, there is the burden of persuasion. The burden of persuasion rests with one party throughout the case and "determines which party must produce sufficient evidence to convince a judge that a fact has been established."

In Aydin Corp., supra, 959 P.2d at 1216, the California Supreme Court held that with respect to the sudden and accidental exception under the pollution exclusion, "there is no compelling reason to alter the normal allocation of the burden of proof with respect to the 'sudden and accidental' exception." The burden

of proving the applicability of an exception to an exclusion belongs to the insured. "Shifting the burden of proof [to the insurer] would . . . reward ignorance by increasing the likelihood of insurance coverage. Rewarding an insured's 'see no evil' position would also undercut the insured's obligations to the insurer of notice, cooperation, and good faith." *Id.* The California Supreme Court further held:

[T]he general rule allocating the burden of proof applies "except as otherwise provided by law." The exception is included in recognition of the fact that the burden of proof is sometimes allocated in a manner that is at variance with the general rule. In determining whether the normal allocation of the burden of proof should be altered, the courts consider a number of factors: the knowledge of the parties concerning the particular fact, the availability of the evidence to the parties, the most desirable result in terms of public policy in the absence of proof of the particular fact, and the probability of the existence or nonexistence of the fact.

Id. The purpose for assigning the burden of proof to the insured "is also consistent with the usual rules for allocating burdens of proof. The rule places the burden on the party who will generally have access to facts. . . . " Aeroquip Corp., supra, 26 F.3d at 895.

Appellants are the parties with knowledge of sudden and accidental property damage (if any). Appellants had access to facts (if any) that would support an argument that the sudden and accidental exception to the CP Exclusion was applicable. Appellants decided to defend, and thus assigned and maintained control over defense counsel. Appellants had access to discovery responses, expert reports, homeowner deposition transcripts, and other documentary evidence in the

underlying lawsuits. Appellants had every opportunity to introduce evidence (if any) of sudden and accidental property damage after they sued Ironshore for equitable contribution. Appellants found no evidence or even allegations of sudden and accidental property damage.

The most desirable public policy if there is no evidence of an exception to an exclusion is to enforce an unambiguous policy exclusion. *United Rentals Highway Techs.*, *Inc. v. Wells Cargo, Inc.*, 128 Nev. 666, 677 (2012) ("[T]his court will not "'attempt to increase the legal obligations of the parties where the parties intentionally limited such obligations.'" . . . Additionally, "[e]very word [in a contract] must be given effect if at all possible"). The Court "will not rewrite contract provisions that are otherwise unambiguous." *Farmers Ins. Group v. Stonik By and Through Stonik*, 110 Nev. 64, 67 (1994). The Ninth Circuit has already held that the CP Exclusion "unambiguously excludes property damage caused by work that was completed before the policy's inception. . . ." *Zurich Am. Ins. Co., supra*, 964 F.3d at 810, fn. 8.

The probability of the existence of evidence of sudden and accidental damage is speculative. The complaints are devoid of any such allegations. The parties litigating the underlying construction defect lawsuit have access to any such facts. Appellants had access to evidence developed in each underlying action. It is unfair to require respondent to prove a negative, when appellants occupy a better

position to be aware of any such evidence. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't v. Coregis Ins. Co., 127 Nev. 548, 555 (2011) (concluding that it was unfair to require an insured to prove that its insurer was not prejudiced by the insured's late notice).

E. Rules Of Civil Procedure Require Appellants
To Prove The Applicability Of Any Coverage
Grants, Including An Exception To An Exclusion

Nevada Zurich I is an appeal from a judgment entered by a United States

District Court following its ruling on cross-motions for partial summary judgment and summary judgment. Nevada applies the same summary judgment standards.

With respect to burdens of proof and persuasion in the summary judgment context, we follow the federal approach outlined in *Celotex* Corp. v. Catrett. The party moving for summary judgment bears the initial burden of production to show the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. If such a showing is made, then the party opposing summary judgment assumes a burden of production to show the existence of a genuine issue of material fact. The manner in which each party may satisfy its burden of production depends on which party will bear the burden of persuasion on the challenged claim at trial. If the moving party will bear the burden of persuasion, that party must present evidence that would entitle it to a judgment as a matter of law in the absence of contrary evidence. But if the nonmoving party will bear the burden of persuasion at trial, the party moving for summary judgment may satisfy the burden of production by either (1) submitting evidence that negates an essential element of the nonmoving party's claim, or (2) "pointing out . . . that there is an absence of evidence to support the nonmoving party's case." In such instances, in order to defeat summary judgment, the nonmoving party must transcend the pleadings and, by affidavit or other admissible evidence, introduce specific facts that show a genuine issue of material fact.

Cuzze v. Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys., 123 Nev. 598, 602-03 (2007).

Likewise, the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure require the District Court to grant summary judgment on a claim "if the movant shows there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." The moving party's burden is affected by whether it has the burden of proof on the issue raised. S. Invo Healthcare Dist. v. Optum Bank, Inc., 612 B.R. 750, 757 (E.D.Cal. 2019). Where the non-moving party has the ultimate burden of proof, the moving party "must produce either evidence negating an essential element of the nonmoving party's claim or defense or show that the nonmoving party does not have enough evidence of an essential element to carry its ultimate burden of persuasion at trial." Nissan Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Fritz Cos., 210 F.3d 1099, 1102 (9th Cir. 1999). Where the moving party has the ultimate burden of proof, it "must establish 'beyond controversy every essential element" of its claim. Southern Calif. Gas Co. v. City of Santa Ana, 336 F.3d 885, 888 (9th Cir. 2003).

Appellants are the plaintiffs in an equitable contribution action, and they bore the burden of persuasion that respondent had a duty to defend in *Nevada Zurich I.*<sup>11</sup> Respondent demonstrated, in part, that at least paragraph 1 of the CP

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> In Nevada Zurich II, appellants bore the burden of persuasion that respondent had the duty to defend and the duty to indemnify.

Exclusion applied to each underlying construction defect lawsuit and paragraphs 2 and 3 of the exclusion also applied to many of the underlying cases. That appellants should bear the burden of persuasion for the applicability of the sudden and accidental exception to the exclusion is consistent with the law applicable to any other affirmative defense under Nevada law. In *Nev. Ass'n Servs. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of Nev.*, 130 Nev. 949 (2014), the Court held that once a defendant has successfully proved an affirmative defense, the burden shifts to the plaintiff to demonstrate that an exception to the defense is applicable. *Id.* at 995.

## III. THE PARTY THAT BEARS THE BURDEN OF PROOF MAY RELY ON EVIDENCE EXTRINSIC TO THE COMPLAINT AVAILABLE AT THE TIME OF TENDER TO CARRY ITS BURDEN

One of the issues certified to the Court is the use of extrinsic evidence in connection with determining a duty to defend. Appellant made no argument below or to the Ninth Circuit that any such evidence may not be considered.

Accordingly, any such argument is forfeited. *United States v. Depue*, 912 F.3d 1227, 1232-33 (9th Cir. 2019).

Setting that aside, neither party in this case had any extrinsic evidence of sudden or accidental property damage, let alone during the Ironshore policy period. Appellants did not offer any evidence in response to respondent's motion for summary judgment or in support of appellants' own motion for partial summary

judgment in Nevada Zurich I. In Nevada Zurich II, appellants stipulated that they have no such evidence. 12

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